1995

Karen Marie Bradford v. William R. Bradford II : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this Court is based on Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended Title 78 chapter 2a Section 3 subparagraph (2)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether or not the court erred in only allowing appellant to deduct \$70.00 per month, and after July 1, 1994 only \$35.00 per month where on a pro rate bases, figuring that the insurance he paid for covered four people, the defendant, his new wife and the two minor children, it cost the defendant \$162.50 per month to cover the children and not \$70.00 or \$35.00 as ordered by the court.

2. Whether or not the court erred in ordering the appellant to only deduct one half of the court ordered cost of insurance after July 1, 1994, where the applicable child support schedules upon which the support obligation was calculated provided that they included the full cost of providing insurance for children and that the party providing the insurance would deduct the full cost from his support obligation.

3. Whether or not the court erred in granting plaintiff a retroactive judgment based on a recalculation of the cost of providing health and dental insurance on the children back to February 16, 1994.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

These issues are questions of law and the appellate court would apply a correction of error standard. "A trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed on appeal for correctness. . . ." Pasker V. Morse 254 Utah Adv. Rep.12: Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

1. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as Amended Section 78-45-7.2.
2. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as Amended Section 78-45-7.7, pre-July 1, 1994 and post-July 1, 1994 versions.
3. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as Amended Section 78-45-7.15, pre-July 1, 1994 and post-July 1, 1994 versions.
4. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as Amended Section 30-3-10.6.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE: This is a divorce case where the Appellant/Defendant petitioned the court for an order modifying the divorce decree in several particulars, but primarily because he had lost his high paying job from a layoff and needed the child support order in the decree of divorce adjusted accordingly. The court entered its order modifying the divorce decree on March 11, 1994. Shortly thereafter the Appellee/Plaintiff filed a motion to strike the March 11th order for several reasons. The court filed its order amending the March 11, 1994 order modifying Judgment and decree of divorce, on March 20, 1995. The Appellant appeals from that order amending the March 11, 1994 Order.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS: The decree of divorce was filed August 14, 1991.(R. 21). Appellant's Petition for Relief was filed May 26, 1993.(R. 25). A Reply and Counter-Petition was filed June 25, 1993 by Appellee/Plaintiff seeking alleged back unpaid child support and an order requiring Appellant/Defendant to pay half of the child care expenses. A Reply to Counter-Petition and Counterclaim to Counter-Petition was filed by Appellant/Defendant on August 17, 1993.(R. 47).

Trial was held on February 16, 1994 before the Honorable Lynn W. Davis

and the resulting Order Modifying Judgment and Decree of Divorce was filed March 11, 1994.(R. 65). Next the Appellee/Plaintiff filed her Motion to Strike the March 11th Order Modifying Judgment and Decree of Divorce on March 21, 1994.(R. 68). Even though the Appellee/Plaintiff called her pleading a Motion to Strike, the trial court considered it as though it was a Petition to Amend.(See T. 11/9 hearing page 19). The Appellant/Defendant filed his Opposing Memorandum to Plaintiff's Motion to Strike on May 12, 1994.(R. 84). The matters were set for trial on November 9, 1994. The Honorable Judge Davis entered his Order Amending Order Modifying the March 11, 1994 Order Modifying Judgment and Decree of Divorce, on March 20, 1995.(R. 110). The Appellant/Defendant appeals from this March 20, 1995 Order.

C. DISPOSITION IN TRIAL COURT: The trial court granted Appellee's Motion to strike in that the court struck its March 11th, 1994 Order that allowed the Appellant to deduct his cost of

providing insurance from his child support obligation. The court did so because the Appellant had added his new wife to the policy. The court ordered that Appellant was only allowed to deduct \$70.00 per month which was the difference between two plans offered by his Employer, an Employee Plus One Plan and an Employee Plus Two or More Plan, until July 1, 1994. And after July 1, 1994 the court ordered that Appellant only deduct \$35.00 per month for providing health and dental insurance on the children because of a change in the statutes. The court further awarded Appellee the sum of \$2,567.00 as a retroactive judgment for arrearage in child support based on these changes back to February 1994.(R. 110)

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS: Mr. Bradford and Karen Bradford Hogan were married in the year 1986 and divorced in the year 1991. During their marriage they had two daughters. Mr. Bradford was about thirty three years old and Mrs. Bradford was Eighteen when they were married. Mr. Bradford is an electrical engineer and has worked for Bechtel corporation since 1981. In his work he has had to move frequently from job to job. This apparently caused stress in the marriage and in April of 1991 when Mr. Bradford came home for a visit from his temporary work site in Texas, his wife informed him she wanted a divorce. She had him go to attorney Donald Eyre's office in Nephi, where Mr. Eyre agreed to do a divorce for both of them based on a handwritten document or note the parties left with Mr. Eyre. Mr. Bradford paid Mr. Eyre

and went back to Texas. Later he received a prepared stipulation which he signed and returned. A default divorce was entered on the stipulation in August 1991 and Mr. Bradford proceeded to pay his child support as he understood it. In February 1992 he lost his per diem pay from Bechtel and he reduced his child support payments accordingly as he understood the divorce decree. He was laid off from work for part of 1992 and worked part of the year. Finally in December of 1992 Mr. Bradford was placed on holding status and started receiving unemployment compensation. In May of 1993 he was still unemployed and on holding status and he filed his Petition to modify the divorce decree on May 26, 1993, seeking a reduced child support payment and better visitation rights with his children because he lived in Texas and week-end visits and short holiday visits were not practical because of travel distances involved. Mrs. Bradford counter-petitioned demanding a contempt of court order and a judgment for arrearage based on her interpretation of the divorce decree among other demands for relief. After the trial on February 16, 1994, the court found that Mr. Bradford had correctly interpreted the divorce decree and had paid his child support in full, and that there were no arrearage owed.

The court amended the Decree to provide for a new child support amount based on the unemployment income of Mr. Bradford and the imputed income of Mrs. Bradford. The court also made an order that it cost Mr. Bradford \$325.00 per month to provide health and dental insurance on the minor children and pursuant to

U.C.A. section 78-45-7.7(b) he ordered that that sum should be subtracted from the ordered child support payable by Mr. Bradford. The court also ordered that both parties had an on going affirmative duty to file an affidavit if either parties income changed substantially and the court retained jurisdiction to amend the amount of child support ordered based on the affidavits of the parties. This was done to save time and travel expenses to all parties concerned and the trouble of having to file a Petition for modification and a court hearing each time ones employment changed. These orders and provisions were reduced to writing in the March 10, 1994 order filed herein on March 11, 1994.

After the trial on February 16, 1994 Mr. Bradford was reemployed by Bechtel on or about February 22, 1994. Pursuant to the Court's Order he filed his affidavit showing his increased income and started paying his increased child support payments less the court ordered amount it cost him to furnish health and dental insurance, the sum of \$325.00 per month. Meanwhile Mrs. Bradford filed a Motion to Strike the March 10, 1994 order because she alleged that Mr. Bradford had went back to work shortly after the February 16, 1994 trial (which was true and Mr. Bradford filed his required affidavit), and she alleged that Mr. Bradford should not be allowed to deduct the \$325.00 per month for insurance because he had added his new wife to his insurance policy at work after he had filed his May 26, 1993 Petition. Mrs. Bradford alleged that Mr. Bradford had misrepresented that fact

to the court at the February 16th trial. These issues were brought to a head at the November 9, 1994 trial. (R. 90) and the court made oral rulings and required Mrs. Bradford to prepare a proposed order consistent with his rulings.

Mr. Bradford objected to the proposed Order submitted by Mrs. Bradford (R. 99). The court ruled on the objection (R. 104) and signed the proposed Order Amending Order Modifying Judgment and Decree of Divorce. (R. 110). In the Order the court ruled that since Mr. Bradford's new wife was on the insurance plan, the Employee plus Two or More Plan, Mr. Bradford was not entitled to deduct the cost of the insurance i.e. \$325.00 as ordered in the March 10, 1994 order, but rather only the difference between the cost of the Employee Plus One Plan and the Employee Plus Two or More Plan, or the sum of \$70.00. In addition the Court ordered that child support payments would be recalculated back to February 1994 on the bases that insurance only cost Mr. Bradford \$70.00 per month for the children, and that after July 1, 1994 he was only entitled to deduct one half of that sum or \$35.00 which under the new statute represented Mrs. Bradfords obligation to pay for half of the insurance premium. the court then granted a retroactive Judgment in the sum of \$2,567.00 to Mrs. Bradford.

Mr. Bradford's affidavit filed in response to Mrs. Bradford's Motion to Strike (R. 78) States that he was reemployed by Bechtel on February 22, 1994 after returning from the February 16, 1994 hearing. He also stated when his children were added to his insurance. Kristyn was enrolled on March 31, 1987 and

Katelynn was enrolled March 21, 1989. As a result he was required to purchase the Employee Plus Two or More plan which was costing him \$325.00 per month. The attachment referred to in his affidavit (R. 77) shows that the Appellee/Defendant Mrs. Bradford was cancelled from the insurance coverage on August 31, 1991, corresponding to the divorce of the parties. But as a single man Mr. Bradford had to continue with the Employee Plus Two or More insurance plan in order to have his two daughters covered. His cost to do so regardless of whether or not his new wife Barbara was on the plan was \$325.00 per month. He filed his Petition to modify the Divorce Decree in May 1993 and later added his new wife to the plan on July 9, 1993. The hearing on the May 1993 Petition was held February 16, 1994. Mr. Bradford testified to the effect that in order to have his two daughters covered on his insurance he had to pay for the Employee Plus Two or More Plan. Mr. Bradford never testified that his new wife Barbara was not on the insurance, nor was he ever ask that question by Plaintiff's counsel, or the Court.

At the November 9th, 1994 hearing Mr. Bradford was not present in order to save his job but the court accused him of misleading the court at the February 16th trial either negligently or intentionally. The parties pro-offered evidence concerning the insurance plans available to Mr. Bradford through his work in more detail and the court received it. At this hearing or trial and from the documents entered into evidence it was determined that Bechtel paid Mr. Bradford a Flex Credit that

basically paid for his insurance but the \$325.00 per month paid for the Employee Plus Two or More Plan included the Flex Credit.(see T. 11/9 hearing page 31). In other words the \$325.00 deducted from Mr. Bradford's monthly pay for the Employee Plus Two or More Plan paid for the four people covered, i.e. Mr. Bradford and his new wife Barbara and the two children in question. Based thereon the court entered oral orders with a great deal of apparent animosity towards Mr. Bradford for his perceived misleading testimony in the court's view. (T. 11/9 hearing pages 20-21). The court's oral orders were ultimately reduced to writing in the March 20, 1995 Order. (R. 110).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. The court should have ordered that the cost of insurance i.e. \$325.00 covered four people, the Appellant/Defendant, his new wife Barbara and his two children, and therefore on a per-capita basis it cost Mr. Bradford \$162.50 per month to provided health and dental insurance for his two children.

2. The court correctly determined that the Pre-July 1, 1994 schedules applied in this case and should have followed pre-July 1, 1994 law that provided that those child support guidelines included the cost of furnishing insurance for children and if a party furnished insurance otherwise then he should deduct the full cost of the children's portion of the insurance furnished from his child support obligation and not just half of the cost

of the children's portion after July 1, 1994.

3. The court should have recognized that it had no authority to retroactively change the March 10, 1994 Order, particularly where Mr. Bradford had timely made his support payments consistent with that order. The court erred in granting Appellee/Plaintiff a retroactive judgment against Mr. Bradford based on a new finding as to how much it cost to furnish insurance.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court in this case erred in several respects. First it failed to recognize that both law and equity required it to determine the cost of providing medical and dental insurance on the two children at least on a per-capita basis, and not on the difference between the Employee Plus One Plan and the Employee Plus Two or More Plan. And the Court erred in only allowing Mr. Bradford to deduct one half of that difference after July 1, 1994.

Statutory law prior to July 1, 1994 provided that the cost of medical and dental insurance was included in the base combined child support tables.(see U.C.A 78-45-7.15(1), pre-July 1, 1994 version). This prior provision provided that the children's portion of medical and dental insurance paid by a parent was thus subtracted from that parent's base child support obligation if it was otherwise provided by the Obligor parent. (See U.C.A 78-45-

7.7(b), pre-July 1994 version). It follows that where Mr. Bradford provides insurance for the children through a payroll deduction, the cost of the children's portion of the insurance premium must be subtracted from the child support payments he is ordered to pay, otherwise he will be paying twice for the children's insurance. Once when the cost is deducted from his paycheck and once when he pays his child support. (See also the child support work sheet, used at that time R. 76).

On the other hand post July 1, 1994 statutory law follows a different scheme. The cost of providing health and dental insurance is not included in the child support guidelines. (See Post July 1, 1994 U.C.A 78-45-7.15). Post law provides that each party shall pay one half of the cost of insurance on the children.{78-45-7.15(3)}. Where there is an obligor parent paying child support who is also providing health insurance through payroll deduction, then the cost of insurance can be handled one of two possible ways. The obligor parent can pay his child support each month and the obligee parent can send the obligor parent a payment each month in return for one half of the cost of health and dental insurance. Or the Obligor parent can simply deduct one half of the cost from his child support payment. This later possibility gives rise to the idea that after July 1, 1994 the Obligor parent can only subtract one half of the cost of providing insurance. In reality since the schedules do not include the cost of providing insurance an Obligor parent is not really subtracting half the cost from his child support

obligation, he is really just collecting from the Obligee parent half of the cost he has in furnishing insurance which he pays in addition to child support. The Court in this case Ordered that after July 1, 1994 Mr. Bradford could only deduct one half of his cost of providing medical and dental insurance on the two children, apparently following the above reasoning.

The post July 1, 1994 schedules and statutes are not applicable to the issues. This is clear from reading the provisions of U.C.A 78-45-7,2(6), both pre and post July 1, 1994 versions. Both versions say that "With regard to child support orders, enactment of the guidelines and any subsequent change in the guidelines constitutes a substantial or material change of circumstances as a grounds for modification or adjustment of a court order, if there is a difference of at least 25% between the existing order and the guidelines....". Thus the new version of the statute in this area is not applicable until there has been a substantial or material change of circumstances AFTER the July 1, 1994 law went into effect. There was no allegation of such a change, and no evidence or claim of a change after that date. The Petition that triggered this trial was filed by Mr. Bradford on May 26, 1993, and Mrs. Bradford's Counter-Petition for alleged back child support based on her interpretation of the divorce decree was filed June 25, 1993. Her order to show cause was filed August 17, 1993 and her Motion to Strike was filed March 21, 1994 (R. 68). None of these pleadings alleged a material change in circumstances after July 1, 1994. In fact the attorney

for Mrs. Bradford conceded in open court that the Pre-July 1, 1994 child support schedules applied to the issues in this case because the change in the guidelines did not exceed the court ordered amount by at least 25%. (T. 11/9 hearing, page 56, lines 7-21).

Pre-July 1, 1994 law at U.C.A 78-45-7.15 (1) which outlines the process of filling the work sheets and figuring the amount of child support payable by an Obligor parent provides that "Only the costs of health and dental insurance premiums for children are included in the base combined child support obligation table." U.C.A. 78-45-7.7(2)(b) pre-July 1 version, provides "calculate each parents proportionate share of the base combined child support obligation . . . and SUBTRACTING from the products the children's portion of any monthly payments made directly by each parent for medical and dental insurance premiums" (Emphasis added). Thus put in other words the statutes clearly spell out that the cost of health and dental insurance was included in the child support guidelines prior to July 1, 1994, and that the parent providing the insurance would subtract the cost of the children's portion from his or her child support obligation each month before payment.

As admitted by Mrs. Bradford's attorney at the November 9, 1994 hearing, the Pre-July 1, 1994 law and schedules were applicable and the court should have continued to apply the provisions of pre-July 1, 1994 law on the subject of whether or not Mr. Bradford could deduct the cost of furnishing insurance.

There remains the issue of whether or not Mr. Bradford should of been allowed to deduct the per-capita cost of furnishing the insurance for the children or only allowed to deduct the difference between Employee Plus One and the Employee Plus Two or More plans. Mr. Bradford attempted to introduce evidence at the November 9, 1994 hearing that the reasonable cost of providing medical and dental insurance for two children in this day and age is certainly more than \$70.00 per month. But the Court ruled that the evidence was not relevant.(T. 11/9 hearing page 38-45). Even without that evidence on the reasonable value of providing insurance for children, it is submitted that judicial notice can be taken of the fact that in today's markets for insurance it can not be provided for \$70.00 per month. And the fact that Metropolitan Insurance company provides Bechtel employees two plans, one covering the employee plus one person, and one covering the employee plus two or more, does not mean that the difference between the two is the cost of insuring two children as the lower court concluded.

The statutes in question again answer the question. Pre-July 1, 1994 version of U.C.A 78-45.7.7(b) provides that the obligor parent would deduct the children's PORTION of any monthly payments made directly for medical and dental insurance premiums. The word Portion means "share" as used. Thus in this case where four people are actually covered, the cost for two children is half of the total premium paid out by Mr. Bradford, or \$162.50 per month. Not \$70.00 per month as ordered by the

court.

A reading of the Post July 1, 1994 version of the statute U.C.A. 78-45-7.15(4) makes it clear that this is what was intended. It says "The children's PORTION of the premium is a PER CAPITA share of the premium actually paid. The premium expense for the children shall be calculated by dividing the premium amount by the number of persons covered under the policy and multiplying the result by the number of children in the instant case." (Emphasis added). If this formula is followed in this case, the cost of medical and dental insurance for the two children is \$162.50 per month.

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