1995

Karen Marie Bradford v. William R. Bradford II : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly found that the cost to provide medical insurance for the two minor children is the difference between the cost to provide employee plus one dependent coverage and employee plus two or more dependents coverage. The court's finding was supported by the evidence and was not clearly erroneous. The trial court properly applied Section 78-45-7.15(3) to the case after its effective date of July 1, 1994. The statute stands on its own and is not dependent upon a change in the child support payment before being applicable. Moreover, the November hearing was a mere continuation of the February trial in which the court found a material change in the parties' circumstances allowing a modification of the Decree. The trial court properly awarded Mrs. Bradford judgment against Mr. Bradford for the arrearages Mr. Bradford would have been ordered to pay had he not misrepresented to the court the cost of providing insurance to the minor children. As a result of Mr. Bradford's false misrepresentations, he is estopped from receiving any relief on this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Bradford Has Failed To Marshall The Evidence

Section 78-45-7.15(3), Utah Code Ann. obligates the court in divorce cases to "require each parent to share equally the out-of-pocket costs of the premium actually paid by a parent for the children's portion of insurance. Practical compliance with such an order is that the parent ordered to maintain the insurance, if also obligated to pay child support, simply deducts from his or her regular child support payments one-half the cost of the premium paid for the childrens' portion of insurance. The central issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred in

calculating the amount of the insurance premium attributable to the minor children and thus the amount Mr. Bradford could deduct from his monthly child support payment. That issue was an issue of fact on which the trial court made a finding. Order Amending Order Modifying Judgment and Decree of Divorce, Finding No. 5. The court's finding was made after the court received evidence regarding the types of medical plans offered by Mr. Bradford's employer, the costs of the various plans, the dates of coverage and the number of individuals covered on the plan.

On appeal of a trial court's finding of fact, the appellant has the obligation to marshal all evidence supporting the finding and then to demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding when viewed in the light most favorable to the finding.

Gillmor v. Wright, 850 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah 1993); Alta Indus. Ltd., *supra*, 846 P.2d at 1286. If the appellant fails to meet the burden of marshaling the evidence, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed. *Id.*; Pasker v. Morse, 887 P.2d 872 (Utah App. 1994).

Mr. Bradford has neither marshaled the evidence in this case nor has he shown that viewing the evidence most favorable to the decision below the evidence is legally insufficient to support the court's finding. The trial court's decision must be affirmed. *Id.*

II. The Court's Finding Regarding The Cost Of The Childrens' Portion Of The Premium Was Correct

Mr. Bradford argues on appeal that because four people are insured on the policy the trial court should have calculated the childrens' portion of the premium to be one-half its cost. That argument may have merit if Bechtel had only one rate schedule. However, the

evidence is undisputed that Bechtel has a three tier rate schedule. The schedule itself determines the cost of the premium Mr. Bradford is required to pay for the two minor children. That amount is \$70.00. Calculation of a different amount would ignore the facts.

Moreover, any other amount would defy logic. Section 78-45-7.15(1) and (2) empowers the trial court with broad discretion in assigning which party is required to provide insurance for the minor children. Had the trial court ordered Mrs. Bradford to provide the insurance, Mr. Bradford could only reduce his premium by \$70.00 and still maintain coverage for himself and his current wife. Under every reasonable analysis, the cost to insure the minor children is \$70.00. The courts finding that the childrens' portion of the insurance premium is the difference between the couple rate and the family rate is not clearly erroneous. The court's ruling should be affirmed. Gillmor, *supra*, 850 P.2d at 433.

Section 78-45-7.15(4) Utah Code Ann. does not change the analysis. As the trial court correctly observed:

I would read that [Section 78-45-7.15(4)] specifically where you have a premium that would involve a single person, and then you would have one that involves a family situation.

Where you specifically have one that applies to a couple rate, and then you can easily calculate the difference between a couple rate and a couple plus children, then that seems to me to be in the best interest of the minor children to allow that offset as opposed to a pro rata which I think is more applicable under a situation where there's an indistinguishable amount, where there's no distinction between a couple rate and a couple plus children. (Transcript, Nov. 9, 1994, pp. 74-75)

Moreover, under Utah Law the court is required to consider the best interests of the minor children, not only in determining custody, but also in determining other obligations of

the parties. See Rosendahl v. Rosendahl, 876 P.2d 870 (Utah App. 1994). Likewise, the clear intent of Section 78-45-7.15(1) and (2) is that insurance for the minor children should be maintained by the party who can do so at the most reasonable cost. It cannot be disputed that the interests of the minor children are better served by having more of the child support payment go directly to the children rather than using the payment to purchase insurance for Mr. Bradford and his current wife. Mr. Bradford should not be entitled to use child support funds to supplement the purchase of his and his wife's insurance simply because the court ordered him rather than Mrs. Bradford to provide insurance. The court was correct when it calculated the childrens' portion of the insurance to be the difference between the couple rate and the family rate.

III. The Trial Court Properly Ruled That After July 1, 1994
Mr. Bradford Could Only Deduct From
His Child Support Payment One-Half Of The
Cost Of The Childrens' Portion Of The Insurance Premium

Section 78-45-7.15(3) Utah Code Ann., which requires divorced parties to share equally the out-of-pocket costs of the premium actually paid by a parent for the children's portion of insurance, became effective July 1, 1994. Prior to the enactment of §78-45-7.15(3) the law allowed a parent to deduct from his or her child support payment the full amount of the cost to provide medical insurance for the minor children. The court ruled at the February 16, 1994 trial that Mr. Bradford could deduct the full \$325.00 premium payment from his monthly child support payment. At the November 9, 1994 hearing the court ruled that §78-45-7.15(3) now applied to the case and ordered that Mr. Bradford could only deduct one-half of the children's portion of the premium from his child support payment.

Mr. Bradford claims on appeal that Section 78-45-7.15(3) Utah Code Ann., does not govern this case because that provision is somehow inseparably connected to the Utah Child Support Guidelines which were also amended effective July 1, 1994. Mr. Bradford claims the insurance provisions of the divorce decree can only be modified when there is a simultaneous modification of the child support obligation. Because the Child Support Guidelines as amended July 1, 1994 did not justify a 25% increase in the amount of child support Mr. Bradford was required to pay, (Transcript, Nov. 9, 1995 p. 56) Mr. Bradford argues there was not a material change of circumstances between the parties. He thus claims the decree cannot be modified to reflect the new insurance requirements of Section 78-45-7.15(3).

Mr. Bradford's argument fails for two reasons. First, the Guidelines and the insurance provisions are not inseparably connected but stand on their own. Nothing in the express wording of the Uniform Civil Liability for Support Act precludes a court from enforcing Section 78-45-7.15(3) in the absence of modification of a parties child support obligation. Rather the express language of the statute requires the court to make such orders anytime the issue is presented. Under Utah Law statutes are interpreted according to their plain and ordinary meaning. Harmon v. Ogden City Civil Service Comm., 890 P.2d 4 (Utah App. 1995). The issue was presented to the court on November 9, 1994 and the court properly applied the statute.

Second, due to Mr. Bradford's false representations, the November 9, 1994 hearing was in substance a continuation of the February trial. At the February trial the court found a substantial change in the parties' circumstances and allowed modification of the original Decree of Divorce. (Transcript, Feb. 16, 1994 p. 119 and 120) The second hearing did not occur

because of a new petition to modify, but rather was required simply to rectify the mistakes of the first trial brought on solely by Mr. Bradford's false representations. Thus, even if we assume, arguendo, that §78-45-7.15(3) is only applicable when there is a material change in the parties' circumstances, the finding by the court in February of a change of circumstances satisfied that requirement. The mere fact the law was changed between the two hearings is the risk Mr. Bradford took when he chose to deceive the court.

In Shelton v. Shelton, 885 P.2d 807 (Utah App. 1994) the court stated the well established rule that:

A material misrepresentation or concealment of assets or financial condition as a result of which alimony or property awarded is less or more than otherwise would have been provided for is a proper ground for which the court may grant relief to the party who was offended by such misrepresentation or concealment, absent other equities such as laches or negligence.

See also Clissold v. Clissold, 519 P.2d 241, 242 (Utah 1994) and Boyce v. Boyce, 609 P.2d 928, 931 (Utah 1980).

Mr. Bradford clearly misrepresented his financial condition and as a result his child support obligation was less than it would have been had he not made such representations. Mr. Bradford has no standing to complain about a court ruling necessitated solely because of his inappropriate conduct.

IV. The Court Properly Awarded Mrs. Bradford Judgment For Child Support Arrearages

Without citing relevant authority or making logical argument Mr. Bradford also claims the judgment for arrearages was improper. Despite the attempted confusion, there is one

fact that is certain. Had Mr. Bradford not misrepresented the facts regarding his insurance at the February trial, the court would have made the proper child support order and the arrearages would not exist. Mr. Bradford cannot be heard to complain about having to make good on an obligation he should not have been able to avoid in the first instance. Id.; Glover v. Glover, 242 P.2d 298 (Utah 1952).

V. Mr. Bradford Should Be Estopped By His Wrongful
Conduct From Obtaining Any Relief On Appeal

As previously addressed, material misrepresentations of a party's financial condition in a court proceeding is proper grounds for a court to grant relief to the party offended by the misrepresentations. Id. Aside from the fact Mr. Bradford's arguments on appeal fail for lack of a legal or factual basis, Mr. Bradford's misrepresentations alone should preclude him from receiving any relief in this appeal.

At the November hearing the trial court did not have the benefit of Mr. Bradford's presence in order to determine whether Mr. Bradford's misrepresentations "were accompanied through negligence, gross negligence, or through a flat out attempt to deceive [the] court". Ruling on Defendant's Objection to Proposed Order. Neither did the court have the benefit of the transcript from the first trial in order to determine whether Mr. Bradford's misrepresentations were deliberate. As a result the court denied Mrs Bradford's claim for attorney's fees. (Transcript Nov. 9, 1994 p. 67)

With the benefit of the transcript of the February trial the record is clear that Mr. Bradford intentionally deceived the court. In response to questions posed by his counsel, Mr.

Bradford stated:

Q. Do you believe that you'll be able to continue to maintain health insurance and dental insurance on the girls?

A. You bet.

Q. How much does that cost you a month right now, do you know?

A. *Well, mine is free because I've been with the company. So what I am paying is specifically for them.* (Transcript Feb. 16, 1994, p. 37)(emphasis added)

Upon being shown Exhibit One which was a check stub from his employer, Mr.

Bradford was asked the following questions and gave the following responses to his counsel:

Q. Would you look at Exhibit No. 2 and just tell me briefly what that is?

A. This is a check stub for the pay period ending 30 January of 1994. And really what this is, is my vacation hours on 39 and-a-half being paid to me, and then deductions.

Q. Did they deduct for health insurance and dental insurance?

A. Yes, they did. For Metropolitan, \$875.42, and for dental \$60.51.

Q. *It's your testimony that these deductions then are to pay for the insurance applicable only to your daughters?*

A. *That is correct.*

Q. *Because yours is free? I mean, the company provides it as part of your benefits.*

A. *The company provides mine.* (Transcript Feb. 16, 1994 p. 39)(emphasis added)

Upon cross examination by Mrs. Bradford's counsel Mr. Bradford gave the following responses to the following questions:

Q. You've indicated that you cashed in your vacation time and paid how many months premium for health insurance?

A. Three months until April 27.

- Q. And the health and dental insurance, are you sure that's paid out of every pay check or is that paid just once a month?
- A. It's paid out of every pay check, every two week period.
- Q. *And it's not -- and you're sure that no portion of that is for you?*
- A. *I'm sure.* Bechtel policy states if you've been with the company five years or more, your insurance is paid for by them. That goes with longevity with the company. (Transcript Feb. 16, 1994 P. 70)(emphasis added)

We now know based on the evidence presented at the November hearing that: (1)

Mr. Bradford's insurance was not free; and (2) the insurance premium he paid was not solely to provide insurance for the minor children, but was also to purchase insurance for Mr. Bradford and his current wife. (Transcript, Nov. 9, 1994, pp. 4, 6, 27, 36 and 37) Because the misrepresentations are so blatant, no other conclusion can be reached than Mr. Bradford willfully lied. Such conduct should estop him from receiving any relief on this appeal.


The record is also clear that the court would have awarded Mrs. Bradford her attorney's fees in the amount of \$680.00 (Transcript Nov. 9, 1994, pp. 57, 67) had the court known that Mr. Bradford willfully lied. Because it is now clear from the transcript that Mr. Bradford did willfully lie, this court should award Mrs. Bradford her attorney's fees from the previous hearings and her attorney's fees on appeal.²

² The fact that Mrs. Bradford has not cross-appealed in this case for attorney's fees should not preclude this court from awarding her fees. Donald Eyre, her counsel in the lower court was appointed a District Court Judge and was required to withdraw as counsel. Mrs. Bradford's new counsel was not retained until June of 1995 and of course did not learn of Mr. Bradford's misrepresentations until reading the transcript in preparation of this brief. Mr. Bradford will not be prejudiced by the request for attorney's fees as he can respond to the request in his Reply Brief.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing the trial courts' decision should be affirmed and plaintiff appellee Karen Marie Bradford Hogan should be awarded her costs and attorney's fees at the lower court and on appeal.